INTRODUCTION

Petitioner was the Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Dade County, Florida. Respondent was the Appellee in the District Court and the defendant in the trial court.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court except that Petitioner may also be referred to as the State; Respondent, Lazaro Diaz, may also be referred to as Defendant. Lazaro Diaz may also be referred to as "Diaz," Jose Ramos may also be referred to as "Jose;" and Francisco Ramos may also be referred to as "Francisco."

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal "T" Trial Transcript

All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

-1-

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent, Lazaro Diaz, and his co-defendants, Francisco and Jose Ramos were arrested on March 22, 1990, and were later charged with armed trafficking in cocaine, unlawful possession of a firearm while engaged in a criminal offense and burglary. (R. 1-11).

On September 20, 1990, Respondent ("Diaz") filed a motion to dismiss the information filed against him, alleging a due process violation and entrapment as a matter of law. (R. 23-36). Francisco and Jose Ramos joined in the motion at a later date. (T. 9).

A hearing on the motion was held on January 14, 1991. (T. 11-117). At the hearing, Diaz testified that he met Salvador Xique at a party approximately one month before his arrest. (T. 21). According to Diaz, Xique called him 15-16 times to tell him about a "business deal" where Diaz would be given a key to a warehouse so he could pick something up from the warehouse and "make a lot of money." (T. 22-23). Xique later introduced Diaz to a man who would give Diaz the key to the warehouse. (T. 23). Diaz also testified that Xique told him to go to the warehouse with two other men and to give him firearms to use "to take precautions." (T. 23-24). Diaz went to the warehouse with Jose and Francisco Ramos as instructed by Xique and the unidentified

-2-

man. (T. 25). When the trio could not find the key which had been hidden near the door, Diaz called the unidentified man and was told once more where the key was hidden. (T. 25). Diaz claimed that he went to the warehouse only because Xique called him more than 15 times, but admitted that he had not been threatened to participate. (T. 26). During cross-examination, Diaz admitted that he never told Xique that he did not want to talk to Xique and that Xique didn't mention the warehouse deal until the fourth or fifth call. (T. 29-30). Diaz never told the unidentified man that Xique was pressuring him to participate in the deal. (T. 35).

Detective Jesus Garcia testified that he met Diaz on March 21, 1990, at Latin American Cafeteria while he was working undercover at the request of a Detective Luis Fernandez. (T. 42-43). Detective Garcia told Diaz that he was expecting a shipment of cocaine, but was not sure when the shipment would arrive. (T. 43-44). Detective Garcia arranged to call Diaz when the shipment arrived so that Diaz could come and take the cocaine in the detective's absence. (T. 44). Detective Garcia left Diaz with the understanding that the detective would call Diaz when he knew when and where the shipment would be arriving and that Diaz "would take care of it from there on, and that he would be prepared." (T. 51). During cross-examination, Detective Garcia stated that he did not tell Diaz to go to the scene armed, but admitted that he did not know if Xique had told Diaz to arm himself. (T. 54).

-3-

Detective Fernandez told the court that Salvador Xique was the informant in the instant case and that Xique was working for "monetary reasons," explaining that the informant had already been paid "two or three hundred dollars" and that payment was not contingent on Xique's testimony at trial. (T. 61, 76). Nor was payment dependent upon the arrest of any individuals. (T. 89). Detective Fernandez further explained that Xique was not performing under any substantial assistance agreement and had no known pending charges in Dade County when he introduced Diaz to Detective Garcia. (T. 88-89). Detective Fernandez also told the court that several days before the appellees were arrested, Xique told the detective that he "had made contact with some individuals or with an individual that was in the business of dealing narcotics rip-offs." (T. 62, 83). Detective Fernandez told Xique to tell this person that a shipment of cocaine would soon be arriving in the area and that Xique would soon know where the drugs would be located. (T. 65). Detective Fernandez explained that he introduced Detective Garcia to Xique and Diaz to determine whether or not the information provided by the confidential informant was reliable and to remove the informant from the negotiations. (T. 74-75, 84).

On January 15, 1991, the trial court ruled on the motion and stated:

-4-

On the Due Process argument, I am granting the Motion to Dismiss insofar as it reduces the charges from armed trafficking or any charges related to the use of a firearm, to unarmed. I believe that the actions of the confidential informant violated the Due Process provision as described in the various cases that were mentioned yesterday, but only to the extent that it would call for a reduction of the charges.

However, as to the objective entrapment test, the Court finds that, based upon the Cruz case, the police activity does not meet the first prong of the test. ...

With regard to the first prong, I find that the police action did not have as its aim interruption of a specific ongoing criminal activity. There was no specific ongoing criminal activity in this case. There was nothing to interrupt. The police set it all up.

Second, the second prong deals with whether the activities were reasonably tailored to apprehend those involved in ongoing criminal activity. I also don't think the police activity met that test. ...

Based on all those matters, the Court is granting the Motion to Dismiss. ...

(T[.]. 121–122).

The state objected to the ruling and argued that the state had not been allowed to elicit testimony regarding the objective entrapment claim and the <u>Cruz</u> criteria.¹ (T. 122-123).

-5-

¹ See <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So. 2d 516 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985).

On January 25, 1991, the court informed the parties that he had "reconsidered all the facts and circumstances" of the case and was granting the motion to dismiss based upon the due process arguments. (T. 131-132). The trial court also found that the facts justified dismissal under the objective entrapment test "although the Third District has ruled there is no longer an entrapment test." (T. 132).

On February 11, 1991, the trial court signed a written order dismissing the charges due to alleged due process violations. (R. 224-227). The trial court also made the following findings of fact:

> 1. This case involves a "reverse sting" with police providing the contraband and the warehouse for the so-called "ripoff."

> 2. confidential informant Α was utilized by the police in this case. This individual initiated and handled substantially all negotiations leading up to the arrest of the Defendants, including being present during the undercover officers' meeting Defendant with The Diaz. confidential informant advised the Defendants on all essential aspects of committing the crimes alleged by the State.

> 3. In particular, the confidential informant told the Defendants to use firearms in committing the crime, and in fact provided the firearms used by the Defendants.

4. The [sic] was no history, information, or intelligence known to law enforcement of any involvement by these Defendants in any narcotics activities or drug "rip-offs" before the confidential informant brought the Defendants into the scheme.

-6-

5. The informants [sic] target, Defendant Diaz, brought the other codefendants into the scheme, at the instance of the confidential informant.

6. The confidential informant utilized in this case operated on essentially a contingent fee basis. The informant was not under prosecution by the State, was not seeking a promise of release from any prison sentence, nor was he to be paid a percentage of the value of any property seized.

7. The confidential informant in this case operated in a manner that was unsupervised and uncontrolled by any agent of the State, and he would only make contact with the State when he decided to do so. He was left unrestricted and unguided in how he was to set up transactions and who his targets might be. He would have been a key witness in the case had the matter proceeded to trial.

8. The informant, acting under apparent law enforcement authority, was given a free reign to instigate and create criminal activity where none previously existed. (R. 224-226). This order was filed with the Clerk's office on April 5, 1991.

(R. 224-226).

Petitioner challenged the dismissal in the Third District Court of Appeal, arguing that the defendants' due process rights had not been violated. (R. 230-235). The state also argued that the objective entrapment test set forth in <u>Cruz</u> had been abolished by the enactment of § 777.201 of the Florida Statutes. (R. 230-235).

-7--

The Third District Court of Appeal agreed that the defendants' due process rights had not been violated, but affirmed the dismissal of the charges filed against Diaz on the ground of objective entrapment. (R. 230-235). Because Jose and Francisco Ramos had been induced by Diaz and not the confidential informant, the trial court's order dismissing the charges against Jose and Francisco was reversed. (R. 230-235).

The state's Motion for Rehearing and Motion for Rehearing En Banc was denied by the Third District Court of Appeal on December 22, 1992. (R. 236).

Notice invoking the jurisdiction of this Honorable Court was filed on or about January 5, 1993.

-8-

POINT ON APPEAL

WHETHER SECTION 777.201, FLORIDA STATUTES (1987) ABROGATES THE OBJECTIVE ENTRAPMENT TEST SET FORTH IN <u>CRUZ V. STATE</u>, 465 SO. 2D 516 (FLA.), <u>CERT.</u> <u>DENIED</u>, 473 U.S. 905 (1985).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 777.201, the companion jury instruction, and the House and Senate Staff analysis clearly evidences the legislature's intent to abolish the <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapment test and have the issue of entrapment be decided by the trier of fact. The application of the <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapment test by this Court in <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 1991), did not "revive" the objective entrapment test since the crimes in <u>Hunter</u> were committed long before the effective date of §777.201.

In the absence of the <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapment test, defendants may assert a constitutional due process claim which establishes outrageous government involvement in the charged crimes. <u>See e.g. State v. Glosson</u>, 462 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1985). Although the <u>Cruz</u> objective is based in part upon due process considerations, the <u>Cruz</u> test is not constitutionally mandated. The rights protected by <u>Cruz</u> may be protected by due process claims similar to those presented in Glosson.

Assuming for the sake of argument that the objective entrapment test was not abolished by §777.201, Petitioner respectfully requests that the matter be remanded for reconsideration of this test by the trial court, which expressly refused to allow the State to present testimony to rebut the defendant's claims of objective entrapment.

-10-

ARGUMENT

SECTION 777.201, FLORIDA STATUTES (1987) ABROGATES THE OBJECTIVE ENTRAPMENT TEST SET FORTH IN <u>CRUZ V. STATE</u>, 465 SO. 2D 516 (FLA. 1985), <u>CERT. DENIED</u>, 473 U.S. 905 (1985).

A. <u>Section 777.201, Fla. Stat. (1987) Abolishes the Cruz</u> Objective Entrapment Test.

Section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987) provides:

A law enforcement officer, a person (1)engaged in cooperation with a law enforcement officer, or a person acting as an agent of a officer perpetuates law enforcement an entrapment if, for the purpose of obtaining evidence of the commission of a crime, he encourages and, induces or as a direct result, causes another person to engage in conduct constituting such crime by employing methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit it.

(2) A person prosecuted for a crime shall be acquitted if he proves by a preponderance of the evidence that his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment. The issue of entrapment shall be tried by the trier of fact.

This section was enacted by the Florida Legislature in 1987 and went into effect on October 1, 1987. Ch. 87.243, §§42, 43 Laws of Florida.

Before §777.201 was enacted, the judicially created defense of entrapment consisted of two independent, coexisting elements.

The "traditional" or "subjective" standard defined entrapment as "law enforcement conduct which implants in the mind of an innocent person the disposition to commit the alleged crime, and hence induces its commission." Cruz v. State, 465 So. 2d 516, 521 (Fla.), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985); Gonzalez v. State, 571 So. 2d 1346 (Fla. 3d The "objective" standard for assessing entrapment DCA 1990). recognized that "when official conduct inducing crime is so egregious as to impugn the integrity of a court that permits a conviction, the predisposition of the defendant becomes Cruz v. State, 465 So. 2d at 521; Gonzalez v. irrelevant." State, 571 So. 2d at 1349.

Under the standards set forth in Cruz, a defendant had the burden only of adducing evidence of entrapment, and once the trial court determined that the evidence was sufficient, the burden shifted to the state to disprove entrapment beyond a reasonable doubt. See Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) §3.04(c)(1) (1985) ("On the issue of entrapment, the State must convince you doubt that beyond a reasonable the defendant was not entrapped."). The threshold objective test required the state to establish initially whether the police activity had as its end the interruption of a specific ongoing criminal activity and utilized means reasonably tailored to apprehend those involved in the ongoing criminal activity there was no entrapment as a matter of law. Cruz, 465 So. 2d at 521-522. If the State established

-12-

the validity of the police activity and demonstrated that the police had "cast their nets in permissible waters, the subjective test remained. However, the answer to whether the accused was an innocent person induced by government officials to commit the crime fell within the province of the jury. <u>Cruz</u>, 465 So. 2d at 521. Following the 1987 enactment of §777.201, a new standard jury instruction issued, placing the burden wholly on the defendant to show by a preponderance of the evidence that "his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment." Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) §3.04(c)(2) (1987).²

Following the enactment of §777.201, the Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal ruled that §777.201 abolished the objective entrapment test by mandating that the issue of entrapment be decided by the trier of fact. <u>Krajewski v. State</u>, 587 So. 2d 1175 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>guashed on other grounds</u>, 589 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 1991); <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 571 So. 2d 1346 (Fla. 3d

² In Herrera v. State, 594 So. 2d 275 (Fla. 1992), this Court was asked to consider whether §777.201(2) of the Florida Statutes and Instruction 3.04(c)(2) of the Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases unconstitutionally shifted the burden of proof to the defendant to prove In Herrera, this Court ruled that both the entrapment. statute and the instruction shifted only the burden of persuasion of an affirmative defense rather than burden of proving the elements of the crime and the defendant's Although this Court did not address the viability quilt. of the Cruz objective test directly, this Court noted that §777.201(2) "evidences the legislature's intent that the defendant should prove entrapment instead of requiring the State to disprove it" and found that there was "no violation of due process in requiring the defendants to bear the burden of persuading their juries that they were entrapped."

DCA 1990); Gonzalez v. State, 525 So. 2d 1005 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988); State v. Lopez, 522 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 3d DCA 1988). The Third District found support for its conclusion in the House of Representative's Committee on Criminal Justice Staff Analysis, June 22, 1987, which stated: "This section overrules the Florida Supreme Court's decision in Cruz v. State, 465 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 1985), which held that the objective test of whether law enforcement conduct was impermissible was in the discretion of the trial court." Gonzalez, 571 So. 2d at 1349. See also Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact Statement on Crime Prevention, Bill No. CS/HB 1467 (May 22, 1987)(this section "[c]larifies that entrapment is an affirmative defense that would be available to a defendant who established to the trier of fact by a preponderance of the evidence that he was not predisposed to commit the offense now charged.").

Evaluating the viability of the <u>Cruz</u> objective test in light of §777.201, the Gonzalez court noted:

Subsection (1) of the entrapment statute appears, at first reading, to focus on the conduct of the police by providing that an entrapment has occurred if the police conduct creates a "substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one ready to commit it." who However, is (2) makes it clear that subsection а defendant will be acquitted on the basis of entrapment only if he can prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that "his criminal conduct occurred as a result of an entrapment." The sole statutory test for entrapment is, therefore, the subjective test

of whether the defendant was predisposed to commit the crime, or as the statute provides, whether the defendant was a person who was "ready to commit the crime." Subsection (1) appears to prevent a defendant from taking advantage of "coincidental improper police conduct." <u>State v. Rockholt</u>, 96 N.J. 570, _____, 476 A.2d 1236, 1241 (construing an entrapment statute similar to §777.201 of the Florida Statutes).

Gonzalez, 571 So. 2d at 1349-50 n. 3 (emphasis in original).

The Fourth District in <u>Krajewski</u> joined the Third District in concluding that section 777.201 abolished the <u>Cruz</u> test, remarking:

> We align this court with the view expressed by the Third District in Gonzalez. We are persuaded to this view not only by the reasoning of that opinion but also by the language of the new statutes. Critical to our analysis and interpretation is the use by the legislature of the term "cause." The objective test is not concerned with cause and effect. It examines only the action of law enforcement or its agencies, and whether action is permissible rather than that "outrageous." On the other hand, the statute is concerned with whether law enforcement activity causes a person to commit a crime. This is entirely a subjective matter.

587 So. 2d at 1178 (emphasis in original).

In <u>Strickland v. State</u>, 588 So. 2d 269, 270-271, (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), however, the Fourth District reversed the position it took in <u>Krajewski</u> for two reasons: (1) that this Court indicated that <u>Cruz</u> was alive and well in <u>State v. Hunter</u>, 586 So. 2d 319 (Fla. 1991); and (2) this Court held the objective entrapment aspects of Cruz are predicated on constitutional due process

-15-

concerns which cannot be superceded by statutory enactments.³ The Third District Court in the instant case also receded from its decision in <u>Gonzalez</u>, relying on the application of the <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapment test to the facts of <u>Hunter</u>.⁴ <u>Lewis v.</u> <u>State</u>, 594 So. 2d 871 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992).

3 Following this Court's decision in Hunter, both the Third and Fourth Districts have receded from this position. Lewis v. State, 594 So. 2d 871 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992); Ricardo v. State, 591 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); Strickland v. State, 588 So. 2d 269 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). The First District has aligned itself with the Third District's position in Gonzalez, 571 So. 2d at 1346, notwithstanding this Court's opinion in Hunter. State v. Pham, 595 So. 2d 85 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Simmons v. State, 590 So. 2d 442 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (Pending before this court, Case No. 75,287); <u>Munoz v. State</u>, 586 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(Pending before this court Case No. 78,900). The Second District has consistently held that the Cruz objective test remained viable despite the passage of §777.201. See e.g. Beattie v. State, 595 So. 2d 249 (Fla. 1992); Morales v. State, 595 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Wilson v. State, 589 So. 2d 1036 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); Bowser v. State, 555 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). Although the Fifth District has continued to apply the Cruz objective test, it has not yet addressed the effect of §777.201 on the objective entrapment test. See e.g. Smith v. State, 575 So. 2d 776 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); State v. Purvis, 560 So. 2d 1296 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990).

4

The Third District also relied on this Court's decision in State v. Krajewski, 589 So. 2d 254 (Fla. 1991). This reliance is similarly misplaced. When presented with the issue of objective entrapment in Krajewski, the Fourth District Court of Appeal agreed with prior Third District Court rulings and held that the defense of objective entrapment had been abolished by §777.201. Krajewski v. State, 587 So. 2d 1175, 1177-78 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991). After finding that the objective entrapment defense had been abolished by §777.201, the Fourth District addressed State v. Glosson and due process criteria and found that Krajewski's due process rights had been violated. 587 So. 2d at 1183-84. The Fourth District then certified to the Supreme Court the limited question of whether the facts of Krajewski violated State v. Glosson, 587 So. 2d at 1184. The Supreme Court answered the certified question in the negative, indicating that there was no due process or

Petitioner submits that reliance on Hunter in Strickland Critical to this court's and the instant case is misplaced. decision in Hunter was the fact that Hunter and Conklin were arrested in October, 1982 - long before §777.201 went into effect on October 1, 1987. Hunter, 586 So. 2d at 323-324 (Barkett, J. concurring and dissenting). As noted by Chief Judge Schwartz in the Hunter decision does not address the Lewis v. State, viability of the Cruz objective entrapment test in light of §777.201, nor even cite the entrapment statute. Lewis v. State, 594 So. 2d 871 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). Petitioner submits that this is so because §777.201 was clearly inapplicable to the offenses committed by Hunter and Conklin. Any application of §777.201 to the offenses in Hunter would violate ex post facto considerations. Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. 423, 107 S.Ct. 2446, 96 L.Ed.2d 351 (1987).

Furthermore, because this Court noted in <u>Cruz</u> noted that although the objective test "parallels a due process analysis, it is not founded on constitutional principles," the <u>Strickland</u> Court's pronouncement that the legislature may not enact an

-17-

Glosson violation. 589 So. 2d at 255. The Supreme Court in Krajewski did not address <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So. 2d 516 (Fla. 1985), or the issue of objective entrapment because the certified question dealt solely with Glosson and due process considerations. 589 So. 2d at 254.

entrapment statute which does not incorporate the objective view is unfounded. Cruz, 465 So. 2d at 520, n. 2.

Petitioner submits that since the entrapment defense is not of a constitutional dimension, the Florida Legislature may adopt any substantive definition that it may find desirable. <u>See</u> <u>United States v. Russell</u>, 411 U.S. 423, 433, 93 S.Ct. 1637, 36 L.Ed.2d 366 (1973).

Section 777.201(1) clearly defines entrapment by stating that:

A law enforcement officer, a person engaged in cooperation with a law enforcement officer, or a person acting as an agent of a law enforcement officer perpetuates an entrapment if, for the purpose of obtaining evidence of the commission of a crime, he induces or encourages and, as а direct result, causes another person to engage in conduct constituting such crime by employing methods of persuasion or inducement which create a substantial risk that such crime will be committed by a person other than one who is ready to commit it.

Section 777.201(2) just as clearly evidences the legislature's intent that the issue of entrapment be decided by the trier of fact, not the trial court.

It is clear from the language of §777.201, which makes entrapment a matter to be determined solely by the jury, the new standard jury instruction on entrapment, which places the burden

-18-

wholly on the defendant to establish he was entrapped, and Florida House of Representatives and Senate staff analyses, which expressly state that the intent of the statute was to overrule <u>Cruz</u> and to make entrapment an affirmative defense available only to a defendant who is not predisposed, that section 777.201 abolished the defense of objective entrapment as a matter of law, as articulated in Cruz.

However, in the absence of the <u>Cruz</u> objective entrapment defense, defendants may still seek dismissal of charges by asserting a constitutional due process claim which establishes outrageous government involvement in the crimes.

B. <u>The Objective Entrapment And Due Process Entrapment</u> <u>Defenses Are Not Equivalent And Coextensive</u>.

This court in <u>Cruz</u> first noted that while the objective test parallels a due process analysis, it is not founded on constitutional principles. 465 So. 2d at 520 n. 2. In <u>Hunter v.</u> <u>State</u>, 586 So. 2d 319, 322 (Fla. 1991), this court noted that the <u>Cruz</u> objective test included due process considerations.

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