IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,042

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

FRANCISCO RAMOS, et al.,

Respondents

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RESPONSIVE BRIEF FROM RESPONDENT LAZARO DIAZ

GERARDO A. REMY, JR., ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 346136 Counsel for Respondent DIAZ 3400 Coral Way, Suite 501 Miami, Florida 33145 Tele: (305) 446-0303

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

ARGUMENTS OF LAW

The leading case on entrapment in Florida is <u>Cruz v.</u> <u>State</u>, 465 So.2d 516 (Fla.), cert. denied, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed.2d 652 (1985). That <u>Cruz</u> remains viable has recently been acknowledged by the Supreme Court in <u>State</u> <u>v. Hunter</u>, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1991), and consequently thereafter by the Fourth District Court of Appeals in <u>Florida</u> <u>v. Mendiola</u>, 18 F.L.W. D570 (Fla. 4th DCA February 24, 1993), <u>Strickland v. State</u>, 588 So.2d (Fla. 4th DCA 1991) and <u>Ricardo</u> <u>v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) and <u>Herrera v.</u> <u>State</u>, 594 So.2d 275 (Fla. 1992) as well as the Third District Court of Appeals in <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 597 So.2d 842 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), (receding from <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), and <u>Jeralds v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 643 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

<u>Cruz</u> establishes that there are two aspects of the defense of entrapment: one tested objectively by the court and the other subjectively by the trier of fact. The threshold test is an objective one, focusing on the conduct of the law enforcement personnel involved, and whether that conduct falls below the standard of proper use of governmental power. The trial court addresses this issue by applying a two prong test and making a determination as a matter of law before the case is presented to the jury.

The first prong of this inquiry is whether the police

conduct has, as its goal, the interruption of a specific ongoing criminal activity. In other words, were police to prosecute a criminal where no crime would have been committed but for the police conduct originating the crime. The second prong is whether law enforcement has utilized means reasonably tailored to apprehend only those already involved in ongoing criminal activity. This phase addresses itself to government agents using inappropriate techniques to induce or encourage an individual to engage in conduct constituting a criminal offense where the individual normally would not have engaged in such conduct.

If either prong is violated, then there is entrapment as a matter of law and the entrapped individual is entitled to be discharged. Ricardo, supra. The facts of this particular case fall squarely within the objective test of Cruz in that the Third District Court of Appeals held in affirming the trial court that the State failed on both prongs of the inquiry. It was clear from the facts before the trial court as well as the stipulation of the Assistant State Attorney before the court (T-47) that the Respondent Diaz was not involved in any ongoing criminal activity of any kind at the time he was first contacted by the informant. Neither did law enforcement officers ever hear the Respondent's name, much less have any information or intelligence that he was involved As to the second prong, the informant used with drugs. inappropriate techniques in order to get the Respondent Diaz

into making or participating in a drug deal. He persisted by calling respondent Diaz 15 to 16 times over a several week span and provided the weapons which escalated the charge from a trafficking offense to an armed trafficking offense punishable by life.

In <u>Hunter</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Florida Supreme Court, <u>subsequent</u> to the enactment of Section 777.201, Florida Statutes (1987), reaffirmed the objective entrapment standard it adopted in <u>Cruz</u>, thereby implicitly invalidating the statute pursuant to the due process clause of the Florida Constitution. See <u>Hunter</u> (Kogan, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part) at 325. The <u>Hunter</u> rationale supports the defense of objective entrapment except where police activity interrupts "specific ongoing criminal activity." <u>Id.</u> at 322. As noted by the <u>Hunter</u> court, the objective entrapment standard focuses solely on police conduct, not on the subjective willingness or proclivity of the defendant to commit the crime. See <u>Id.</u>

<u>Hunter</u> is a case similar to the case at bar and therefore, should control the resolution of this issue. In <u>Hunter</u>, as in the present case, the Florida Supreme Court rejected the argument that the Respondent's due process rights had been violated. In this case, the Third District Court of Appeals, although not agreeing with the rationale of the due process violation by the trial court, nonetheless found, in affirming the dismissal of the charges against Diaz, that the Respondent Diaz had been objectively entrapped by the police.

In Hunter the court limited the holding of State v. Glosson, 462 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1985), to cases where the confidential informant's contingent fee was conditioned on his trial testimony. In the instant case, the confidential informant, as found by the Third District Court of Appeals, was not required to testify in order to receive his fee. Therefore, and as a result of that, the Court of Appeals rejected Diaz' due process argument citing Hunter. However, the appellee Diaz' arguments that charges should have been dismissed because of the objective entrapment argument was accepted and agreed to by the Third District Court of Appeals. In its brief as well as oral arguments before the Court of Appeals, the state contended that Section 777.201 F.S. (1989), had the effect of abolishing the objective entrapment test enunciated The Court of Appeals disagreed and rejected this in <u>Cruz</u>. argument citing Lewis v. State, supra. (See Footnote 1, State v. Ramos, 608 So.2d 830 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992).

In <u>Lewis</u>, the Third District Court of Appeals, in a case very similar to the case at bar, found that neither part of the <u>Cruz</u> test was satisfied. Specifically, the Court found that the first prong of the <u>Cruz</u> test was not met because Lewis was not involved in a specific ongoing criminal activity. Similar to the case at bar, there was no crime in <u>Lewis</u> until the informant created it. Similar to this case, no crime had been committed until it was created by the informant, Xique.

In Lewis, at Footnote 1, the Court indicated as follows:

We are not unaware of the line cases holding that the enactment of Section 777.201, Florida Statutes, evinces a legislative intent to overrule <u>Cruz</u>. See, e.g., <u>State v. Pham</u>, 595 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); <u>Gonzalez v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 1346 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990), review denied, 584 So.2d 998 (Fla. 1991). However, we choose to rely on our most recent Supreme Court cases on the issue. See <u>State</u> <u>v. Krajewski</u>, 589 So.2d 254 (Fla. 1991); <u>State v.</u> <u>Hunter</u>, 586 So.2d 319 (Fla. 1991).

By the wording contained in its footnote in the <u>Lewis</u> opinion, the Third District Court of Appeals has in fact receded from <u>Gonzalez</u>.

In the instant case, as to the Respondent Diaz, the first prong of the <u>Cruz</u> test was not satisfied. The trial court found, and the Court of Appeals agreed, that there was no history, information, or intelligence known to law enforcement of any involvement by these defendants in any narcotics activities of drug rip-offs before the confidential informant brought the defendants into the scheme. This finding was not only supported by the evidence, but was also stipulated to by the assistant state attorney in open court and on the record (T-47). When the confidential informant contacted Respondent Diaz, Diaz was not involved in any specific ongoing criminal activity. In addition, the second prong of the Cruz test was not satisfied where the police used means which were not reasonably tailored to apprehend those involved in the ongoing criminal activity. Cruz, 465 So.2d at 522.

The State has through the legislature decided that the

burden is on a defendant claiming entrapment to prove that they were entrapped, Section 777.201(2). The allocation of this burden to a defendant is not unconstitutional. See, e.g. Patterson v. New York, 432 U.S. 197 at 210, 97 S.Ct. 2319; 53 L.Ed.2d 281 (1977) also Herrara v. State, supra. However, the lack of predisposition to commit the crime charged is an essential element of the defense of entrapment. The predisposition to commit a crime, however, is not the same as the intent to commit that crime. Predisposition is not the same as mens rea. The former involves a defendant's character and criminal inclinations, the later involves the defendant's state of mind while carrying out the allegedly criminal act. State v. Rockholt, 476 A.2d 1236, 1242 (NJ 1984), Herrera, supra. A distinct dichotomy exists between objective and subjective entrapment. And before one ever reaches the subjective entrapment aspect of a trial they must overcome the prohibitions of the objective entrapment as set forth by Cruz and reaffirmed by Hunter. The emphasis of objective entrapment is on forbidding the state from prosecuting "crime" that never would have existed but for police activity engendering the offense or police conduct that otherwise overstepped the standards of permissible governmental conduct. Cruz 465 So.2d at 521.

The <u>Hunter</u> case, which was a case similar to the one at bar, is controlling and its holding that "objective entrapment" as defined by the Florida Supreme Court remains a

conclusive defense to a criminal prosecution should equally apply in this case. The facts of this case show that the state violated both prongs of the <u>Cruz</u> objective standard for entrapment. The trial court found objective entrapment, the Third District Court of Appeals affirmed that holding pursuant to the authority of <u>Cruz, Hunter</u>, and its decisions in <u>Lewis</u>, and therefore, should be affirmed by this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent Diaz, a defendant in the trial court, filed a Motion to Dismiss based upon the principal ground of due process and objective entrapment. After a hearing on Respondent Diaz' Motion to Dismiss, the trial court ruled on the motion stating that, based on the due process argument, it was "reduc[ing] the charges from armed trafficking or any charges related to the use of a firearm, to unarmed." The Court further stated that it was dismissing all charges based on the objective entrapment test enunciated in <u>Cruz v. State</u>, 465 So.2d 615 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 473 U.S. 905, 105 S.Ct. 3527, 87 L.Ed. 652 (1985).

The trial court later reconsidered its prior ruling on the Motion to Dismiss and granted the motion to dismiss based on the due process argument. The court further found that the facts of the present case justified dismissal under the objective entrapment test, although it was not dismissing the charges on that ground.

The Petitioner herein appealed the trial court's order contending that the defendants' due process rights were not violated. The appellate court agreed with this argument, finding that since the confidential informant's fee was not conditioned on his testimony at trial, the Respondent's due process argument was rejected. However, Respondent Diaz also argued that the charges should have been dismissed based on

the objective entrapment argument. See <u>Cruz v. State.</u> The Petitioner herein contends that §777.201, F.S., (1989) has the effect of abolishing the objective entrapment test enunciated in <u>Cruz</u>. The Third District Court disagreed. See <u>State v.</u> <u>Ramos</u> and <u>Lewis v. State.</u>

The leading case on entrapment in Florida is <u>Cruz</u> which remains vital under the due process analysis by the Supreme Court in <u>Hunter, Strickland, Ricardo, Lewis, Gonzalez,</u> <u>Herrera, and Jeralds.</u> The Florida Supreme Court noted in <u>Cruz</u> that objective entrapment involves issues which may overlap or parallel due process concerns.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the holding of <u>Hunter</u> and its progeny, Respondent Diaz would respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the holding of the Court of Appeals and find that \$777.201, F.S., does not abolish the objective entrapment defense as set forth in <u>Cruz</u> and acknowledged by the Supreme Court in <u>Hunter.</u>